73315-0

73315-0

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

2015 JUL -2 PM 3: 32

73315-0

No. 733150-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD and MARNIE FOX, husband and wife,
Appellant,

v.

SKAGIT COUNTY, a municipal corporation, SKAGIT COUNTY
BOARD OF HEALTH, an RCW 70.05 local board of health, DALE
PERNULA, DIRECTOR of the SKAGIT COUNTY PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES and JENNIFER KINGSLEY,
DIRECTOR of the SKAGIT COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH AKA
SKAGIT COUNTY PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT,

Respondents,

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; and
SWINOMISH INDIAN TRIBAL COMMUNITY,

Intervenors.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in ruling that RCW 19.27.097 and/or Skagit County code requires a showing of adequate water availability beyond a showing in a building permit application that a person and use qualifies for an exemption under RCW 90.44.050.
2. The trial court erred in ruling that WAC 173-503 governs permit exempt groundwater uses, and specifically the Foxes' groundwater use, whether their use is an existing use or a "new use," and erred in placing the burden of proof on the Foxes to show their use would not reduce flows on the Skagit River.
3. The trial court erred in ruling that any water right associated with the Foxes' well would be junior to WAC 173-503 to prevent the legal availability of water shown in the building permit application and materials, under the Instream Flow Rule's plain terms and water law principles.
4. The trial court erred in ruling that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the validity of WAC 173-503 as applied to the Foxes under constitutional due process grounds, and erred in applying the rule to prohibit the building permit from issuing.
5. The trial court erred in determining the Foxes' water supply was subject to interruption, and erred in concluding that the Foxes were required to show year round water rights.
6. The trial court erred in entering the order of dismissal.
7. The trial court erred in not reconsidering the decision to dismiss the case in light of Ecology's interpretation of WAC 173-503, and commitment that the State would mitigate for all domestic exempt well users in the basin potentially subject to the Instream Flow Rule, consistent with the State's statutory obligations, as any interpretation that requires an exempt user to present a mitigation plan is in contravention to RCW 90.44.050 and *Campbell & Gwinn*.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Is a Writ of Mandamus to issue a building permit appropriate relief if the requirements of Skagit County Code and RCW 19.27.097 are met? (Assignment of Error No. 1)**

Short Answer: Yes.

- 2. Are The Requirements of Adequate Water In RCW 19.27.097 Met Where An Applicant For A Building Permit Supplies Evidence Of A Use That Qualifies As Exempt Under RCW 90.44.050? (Assignment of Error No. 1 and No.2)**

Short Answer: Yes.

- 3. In the alternative, does WAC 173-503 (2001) otherwise alter the requirements of RCW 19.27.097 and RCW 90.44.050 or otherwise prohibit Mr. Fox's building permit application from being complete where Mr. Fox presented evidence the Foxes and their use qualified to be exempt from permitting, and presented evidence of a common law correlative groundwater right and/or a common law appropriative right not subject to or otherwise senior to the Instream Flow Rule? (Assignment of Error No. 3 and No. 5).**

Short answer – No.

- 4. In the alternative, if WAC 173-503 applies to preclude the Foxes well, by itself, from qualifying as an adequate supply of water, did the court err in failing to reconsider its dismissal order in light of Ecology's January 2015 letter interpreting WAC 173-503 and commitments to mitigate for all exempt well users in the basin? (Assignment of Error No. 6)**

Short Answer: Yes.

- 5. Does the trial court's interpretation and application of WAC 173-503 (2001) violate the constitutional due process rights of the Foxes? (Assignment of Error No. 4).**

Short Answer – Yes.

6. Are the Foxes entitled to attorney's fees under the private attorney general basis or recognized ground in equity?

Short Answer – Yes. The Foxes have done everything the law required them to do, and this case benefits many people in the state of Washington providing clarity in a matter of first impression regarding important legislative principles underlying RCW 90.44.050 and RCW 19.27.097.

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a writ of mandamus action by the Foxes against Skagit County for a building permit, where the Foxes submitted their building permit application for their single-family home according to their long term plans in preparation of their retirement years. (CP 290-291). The Foxes had acquired the property in or around 2000, which had been their long time neighbors' property, with the intent of subdividing it into two buildable lots – one for their retirement home on a new lot with the existing barn, and one lot for the existing farm house. (CP 288-291). They lawfully divided the property into these two building lots in 2000 with a recorded short plat in the County records (CP 660), showing the location of groundwater wells (CP 661). Consistent with their retirement plans the Foxes hired a builder (CP 290-291) and submitted their building permit in the beginning of 2014. (CP 679). The application included a copy of a groundwater claim for their

property one of their predecessors in title had filed for domestic and other purposes on the property on June 18, 1974. (CP 681).

However, the County refused to act to approve the building permit. The Foxes, as the building permit applicants, have and had otherwise met all the requirements of a building permit under county code according to the County (CP 652-664) except for the County's incomplete letter, and no one argues that the Foxes are required to apply for a water right permit under RCW 90.44.050.

The County stated the application was incomplete only because they needed to show one of several "documentations of water availability" (CP 666) (March 26, 2014 Letter from Skagit County). The County listed these purported requirements as "[a] letter or email from Ecology ... [1] acknowledging [Foxes' parcel] has an approved water right or transfer... [or] [2] an approved mitigation proposal," or "a submittal of an Engineered Plan for a Rainwater Catchment System [to the County]." (CP 666).

On May 16, 2014 the Foxes supplied additional information and clarification of their legal right to water in a *legal opinion* submitted to the County. (CP 668-731). The County did nothing in fourteen days after receiving the information. The County has refused to act (neither approving nor denying the building permit application).

Faced with governmental inaction and silence, on June 11, 2014 the Foxes obtained an alternative writ of mandamus and a show cause order in Skagit County Superior Court, why the building permit should not issue forthwith. (CP 643). The Skagit judges recused themselves (CP 731), and Honorable George F. B. Appel presided over the matter from Snohomish County. (CP 731); (CP216-226). After the issuance and service of the writ on the County on June 12, 2014 (CP 216-217), on June 17, 2014, Ecology submitted a letter into the building permit application file suggesting, *inter alia*, that Mr. Fox was not diligent enough from when he subdivided the property in 2000 to the date of his building permit application in 2014. (CP 237-246). Department of Ecology and the Swinomish Tribe intervened in the mandamus matter, with Ecology expressing that the court's decision could have wide ranging impacts on water policy and administration throughout the state. (CP 837).

At the July 23, 2014 show cause hearing, the court ordered the hearing be continued, and directed the parties to prepare an agreed order implementing the continuance and a briefing schedule on issues of law.

Ultimately, the trial court denied the Foxes motion to affirm the writ of mandamus as a matter of law, at the issues of law hearing on December 16, 2014, and stated that there was no need for trial and for the parties to

present an order. (CP 582). On January 15, 2015 Ecology issued a letter interpreting WAC 173-503 (2001) in response to a formal Administrative Procedures Act petition by a third party (CP 95-164), and expressing certain commitments to resolve mitigation problems for exempt wells in the Skagit River Basin (CP 491-497). On January 28, 2015, the trial court ruled the Foxes failed to show an adequate supply of ground water, and failed to show their water use would not reduce the flows of the Skagit River, and dismissed the writ of mandamus action. (CP 582)(minute entry from December 16, 2014);(CP 629-632))(Order of dismissal January 28, 2015).

The Foxes sought reconsideration based upon the January 15, 2015 Ecology letter. The court denied the motion. (CP 640). The Foxes appeal both decisions. (CP 600-607).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW DISMISSING THE MANDAMUS ACTION IS *DE NOVO* AND STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION IS REVIEWED *DE NOVO*.

The interpretation and requirements of RCW 19.27.097 and RCW 90.44.050 and other statutes is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 6, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

The superior court rules apply to mandamus proceedings. *Chief Seattle Properties, Inc. v. Kitsap County*, 86 Wash. 2d 7, 28, 541 P.2d 699,

712 (1975)(“We find no inconsistency between CR 81(a) and mandamus proceedings and therefore hold CR 81(a) applies.”). A decision on mandamus has different standards of review, depending upon the element at issue. *See, Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 402, 76 P.3d 741 (2003), *review denied*, 151 Wn.2d 1027, 94 P.3d 959 (2004) (review of remedy element is for abuse of discretion and whether a statute imposes a duty to act is reviewed *de novo*); *River Park Square, LLC v. Miggins*, 143 Wn.2d 68, 76, 17 P.3d 1178 (2001).

Here, Fox brought a motion to affirm the alternative writ in the matter on questions of law, similar to a summary judgment motion. The trial court denied the motion, and dismissed the case. Accordingly, for purposes of review, the motion would be treated as a motion for summary judgment, as matters outside the pleadings were considered. CR 12(c). Review on appeal therefore is *de novo*, with all facts of Fox as true and reasonable inferences in favor of Fox as if summary judgment were granted against him. *See, Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 243, 249 (1993)(appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, applies the standards in CR 56(c)).

B. ARGUMENT ON ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. A Writ of Mandamus to issue a building permit appropriate is appropriate relief when the requirements of Skagit County Code and RCW 19.27.097 are met. (Assignment of Error No. 1)

It is error for a writ to not issue where “(1) [T]he party subject to the writ is under a clear duty to act, RCW 7.16.160; (2) the applicant has no ‘plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law,’ RCW 7.16.170; and (3) the applicant is ‘beneficially interested.’” *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 402, 76 P.3d 741 (2003), *review denied*, 151 Wn.2d 1027, 94 P.3d 959 (2004); *See also, Putnam v. Carroll*, 13 Wn. App. 201 (1979). In a mandamus action “*the remedy issue turns on whether the duty the plaintiff seeks to enforce ‘cannot be directly enforced’ by any means other than mandamus*” *Eugster*, 118 Wn. App. at 414 (quoting *Bd. of Liquidation v. McComb*, 92 U.S. 531, 536, 23 L.Ed. 531, 2 Otto 531 (1875))(emphasis added). Here, the duty is the issuance of a building permit.

RCW 7.16.360 provides: “This chapter does not apply to state agency action reviewable under chapter 34.05 RCW or to land use decisions of local jurisdictions reviewable under chapter 36.70C RCW.” The Foxes are not seeking mandamus relief against Ecology, though Ecology has

intervened in the matter. And LUPA, by its terms expressly does not replace writ of mandamus compelling a land use determination (administrative remedy) that has otherwise not been made or denied ((here, the issuance of a building permit) RCW 36.70C.030(1)(b). Inaction is not reviewable under LUPA because it is not a “land use decision.” *See, Id.*

A court may issue a writ of mandamus to compel the performance of an act which the law especially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station. RCW 7.16.200. All parties agreed the ultimate issue below was whether the Foxes have a complete building permit application. It is well settled under the laws of this state and the uniform building code, that when a building permit application is complete, a building permit must issue and this is a ministerial decision. *See, Putnam v. Carroll*, 13 Wn. App. 201 (1979) (holding the trial court erred in not issuing the writ of mandamus if and where the building permit applicant qualified for an exemption from a shoreline permit); *See also, State ex rel. Klappsa v. City of Enumclaw*, 73 Wn.2d 451, 454, 439 P.2d 246, 248 (1968); *State ex rel Craven v. Tacoma*, 63 Wn.2d 23, 385 P.2d 372 (1963); *Hull v. Hunt*, 53 Wn.2d 125 (1958)(mandamus appropriate to protect due process rights in context of building and vesting to land use codes); *Allenbach v. City of Tukwila*, 101 Wn.2d 193, 200, 676 P.2d 473 (1984).

There is no dispute Petitioner does not have any further administrative remedies before the County. (CP233-234)(Answer ¶ 3.13, 3.15). Ecology in its letter to the County also admits Petitioner is not required to apply for permit application to Ecology. (“Even though Mr. Fox is not required to file a permit application with Ecology...”)(CP 240)(Answer Ex. A, p. June 17, 2014 letter to County). Accordingly, because the remedy element is to focus is on the duty sought to be enforced (issuing a building permit), coupled with these admissions, there is no genuine dispute that Mr. Fox has no plain speedy adequate remedy at law to have Skagit County issue him a building permit.

Nonetheless, the trial court ruled that Mr. Fox did not meet the requirements of RCW 19.27.097 adequate water provision, because of WAC 173-503 (2001), and dismissed the action.

A writ of mandamus is appropriate relief here because the sole overarching issue is whether a building permit application is complete under Skagit County Code 12.48 et seq and RCW 19.27.097. As discussed below, the County has no discretion with respect to the legal availability of water portion of “adequate water” in RCW 19.27.097 where an applicant demonstrates evidence that a water permit is not required under RCW 90.44.050. While other portions of RCW 19.27.097 water adequacy

requirements could be subject to discretion (i.e. potability issues) or whether a use actually utilizes less than 5000 gallons per day and the applicant is the intended user (these facts are not in controversy here), there is no discretion in the County with respect to legal availability when the building permit applicant otherwise qualifies for an exemption. *See, Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 6, 16 (2002) (RCW 90.44.050 plainly exempts a qualified user from governmental inquiry into (1) whether water is available (2) whether a use is beneficial (3) whether a use will impair existing rights, and (4) whether the use will be detrimental to the public welfare). *Cf. Rettkowski v. Ecology*, 122 Wn.2d 219, 230, 858 P.2d 232 (1993). Ecology has no jurisdiction to allocate water resources on the basis of its own determination of priorities – RCW 90.03.110 is the sole procedure – and so it was inappropriate for Ecology to issue administrative orders curtailing groundwater users who were impacting surface waters). Mandamus is appropriate relief. In any event, lesser relief than that requested in an alternative writ is available in a mandamus action if appropriate. *Klappsa v. Enumclaw*, 73 Wn.2d 451, 454, 439 P.2d 246 (1968). The trial court erred in dismissing the action.

The trial court erred in interpreting the statutory provisions of RCW 19.27.097 and RCW 90.44.050 as invoking the Instream Flow Rule to

render the Foxes building permit application incomplete, and erred in going one step further in interpreting and applying the language of WAC 173-503 to find that the Foxes do not have “adequate” water to satisfy RCW 19.27.097. (CP 629-632).

2. The Requirements of Adequate Water In RCW 19.27.097 and Skagit County Code Are Met Because the Foxes, As Applicant For A Building Permit, Has Provided Evidence Of A Use That Qualifies As Exempt Under RCW 90.44.050. (Assignment of Error No. 1 and No.2)

a. Qualification to be exempt from permitting under RCW 90.44.050 is a legal availability of water under RCW 19.27.097 – without more.

RCW 19.27.097 requires each building permit applicant to provide “evidence of an adequate water supply for the intended use of the building” and is to be implemented by local code. RCW 19.27.095(2).

RCW 19.27.097 provides:

- (1) Each applicant for a building permit of a building necessitating potable water shall provide evidence of an adequate water supply for the intended use of the building. Evidence may be in the form of a water right permit from the department of ecology, a letter from an approved water purveyor stating the ability to provide water, or another form sufficient to verify the existence of an adequate water supply. *** An application for a water right shall not be sufficient proof of an adequate water supply.

RCW 19.27.095(2) indicates that the requirements of a complete building permit application “shall be defined by local ordinance.” RCW 19.27.097(3) further provides Ecology may pass administrative rules to implement RCW 19.27.097, but only after and in consultation with the local government and Counties. Ecology has not passed any rules to implement RCW 19.27.097. It is appropriate to first examine Skagit County Code. RCW 19.27.095(2). Fox meets the requirements of the local Skagit County ordinance, so a building permit must issue.

1. Skagit County Code recognizes that qualification for an exemption under RCW 90.44.050 is legal availability of water implementing RCW 19.27.097.

Skagit County code 12.48 et seq (**Appendix A**) discusses what the permit application must include to meet the adequate supply of water, and local code is satisfied when a permit is not required under RCW 90.44.050. Local code defines “adequate water supply” as “a water supply which is capable of supplying at least three hundred fifty (350) gallons of water per day, meets the siting criteria established by State and local regulations, and meets water quality standards in SCC 12.48.110. SCC 12.48.030. Accordingly, there is no basis in Skagit County code for the “incomplete” letter provided to the Foxes. The only permissible inquiry under Skagit

County Code is whether or not the Foxes qualify for an exemption i.e. “if a permit is required” or not. SCC 12.48.100(2).

2. An adequate supply of water under RCW 19.27.097 has been interpreted to include a legal availability of water under *Kittitas County v. EWGMHB*, which is also merely a determination of whether someone qualifies for the RCW 90.44.050 exemption.

Ordinances are to be interpreted consistent with state law. *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 406 (2003), and RCW 90.44.050 exempts certain uses from inquiries into additional legal availability determinations conducted by Ecology in the permit process. *Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 6, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The term “adequate” in reference to the water supply in RCW 19.27.097 has been interpreted by *Kittitas County v. EWGMHB*, 172 Wn.2d 144, 178-180 (2011) to mean evidence of both factual and legal availability of water is required, though in *Kittitas* the issue was the subdivision statute not RCW 19.27.097 per se. *Kittitas County v. EWGMHB*, 172 Wn.2d 144, 178-180, 179 (2011)(“[RCW 19.27.097 and RCW 58.17.110] require counties to assure adequate potable water is available when issuing building permits and approving subdivision applications.”); *Accord*, 1992 AGO No. 17 (“potable” is just one element of the term “adequate” in RCW 19.27.097(1) the other being physical quantity). *Compare*, RCW 58.17.110 (using term

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