### FILED Aug 25, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

73315-0

No. 733150-01

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### RICHARD and MARNIE FOX, husband and wife,

Appellant,

V.

SKAGIT COUNTY, a municipal corporation; SKAGIT COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH, an RCW 70.05 local board of health; DALE PERNULA, DIRECTOR of the SKAGIT COUNTY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES and JENNIFER KINGSLEY, DIRECTOR of the SKAGIT COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH AKA SKAGIT COUNTY PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT,

Respondents,

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; and SWINOMISH INDIAN TRIBAL COMMUNITY,

Intervenors.

#### **RESPONDENT SKAGIT COUNTY'S BRIEF**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The right to sufficient water to support a rural homestead has been enshrined in statute since 1945, and has always been understood as a core component of the value of real property in rural areas such as Skagit County.

In 2001, the Washington State Department of Ecology adopted an instream flow rule for the Skagit River (the "**2001 Rule**") through a notice and comment rulemaking, setting minimum flows based on arbitrarily high flow levels that the Skagit River has historically never met. The 2001 Rule says nothing whatsoever about single family domestic exempt wells. While draft versions of the 2001 Rule contemplated possible regulation of exempt wells, the final version was completely silent as to exempt wells.

Nevertheless, in 2013, some twelve years later, Ecology directed Skagit County to stop issuing building permits and subdivision approvals that rely on exempt wells, contending that the 2001 Rule's silence regarding exempt wells eliminated the right to use exempt wells by implication. Ecology never informed the public about any of this until last year (2014), and the public never had meaningful opportunity to participate at the time. As a result, Petitioner Fox and thousands of others now own nearly un-useable and unmarketable land, often encumbered by

debt greater than the land's residual value. The County has, on application from landowners, been forced to dramatically reduce the taxable value of the land.

The Skagit County Planning Department, following Ecology's directive, declined to issue Appellant Fox a building permit when he applied for one in early 2014. Appellant Fox then brought this suit against Skagit County.

Fox is correct that the court below erred in deferring to Ecology's interpretation of its 2001 Rule.

Skagit County has spent the last decade being dragged into a series of lawsuits and regulatory headaches stemming from Ecology's serial malfeasance. Ecology's intepretation of its 2001 Rule constitutes arbitrary, unreasonable, and likely unconstitutional treatment of thousands of Skagit County citizens, representing an abuse of governmental power in which Skagit County has no interest in participating.

Exempt wells have never been limited in the past, and have always been seen as a matter of right by rural landowners, the real estate industry, banks, and the community in general. Skagit County agrees that setting a limit on exempt wells in necessary and proper. Ecology and the County depart from each other in that the County believes this must be done transparently, openly, and honestly; should be supported by believable,

credible science; and should minimize the damage to those who have acted in reliance on the *status quo* – all in the interest of obtaining buy-in from the community, and a resultant practical ability to enforce the rule adopted. Ecology has totally failed in all these respects, and has abused its authority in the process.

Ecology should establish tributary-specific minimum flows for the Skagit Basin, and limit the use of future exempt wells through a clear, transparent and honest public process. Skagit County could support such a thing, but that has yet to occur.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Ecology asserts, twelve years later, that the 2001 Rule prohibits the use of any exempt wells put into use after 2001, even though the 2001 Rule is silent on the topic of exempt wells. Is this a reasonable interpretation?

> <u>Short Answer</u>: No. While Ecology has the authority to establish instream flow rules, and possibly has the right to eliminate the right to use exempt wells through adoption of an instream flow rule, it must do so transparently and openly. Ecology's interpretation claims more authority than the legislature afforded Ecology, and fails to comport with constitutional due process.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Over the past two decades, the Department of Ecology has pursued little with as much enthusiasm as its announced vision of converting the waters of the Skagit Basin into a market-based system capable of generating governmental revenue. CP367 (2000 document describing Ecology's "Water Vision" for the Skagit Basin as the creation of a regime where "[w]ater not needed for environmental protection would be available to a market system for allocation to competing uses.")

Specifically, over the past decade and a half Ecology has overseen a scheme by which the City of Anacortes received an environmental blessing from the Swinomish Tribe for the City's massive inchoate water claims on the Skagit, i.e., water claims by the City that have not yet been put to any beneficial use. As a *quid pro quo*, Swinomish received a very large amount of guaranteed water from the City, in perpetuity, at cheap wholesale rates. CP117; 119 (1996 agreement regarding Skagit Instream Flow rulemaking, deciding in advance of 2001 rulemaking process that the purpose of the 2001 Rule will be "[t]o guarantee in perpetuity to the Swinomish Indian Tribal Community...a water quantity of 2.8 million gallons per day...", in exchange for which Swinomish promises "to not challenge any water rights claims or adjustments made by the City [of Anacortes]...within 50 years from the Effective Date of this Agreement").

On March 14, 2001, Ecology published WAC 173-503, the Skagit River Instream Flow Rule ("**2001 Rule**"). CP25-30. In the 2001 Rule, Ecology established 10,000 cubic feet per second in the Lower Skagit River mainstem as the minimum flow baseline during low flow months, based on a point of measurement at Mount Vernon. When the Skagit River falls below this level – which it always has, as long as data has been kept – the Skagit Basin and all of its tributaries are to be deemed impaired,

and, therefore, closed to further appropriation. CP00266. This is described by the Declaration of Jerry Liszak, an Ecology employee, submitted in this action:

The Skagit River Basin Water Management Rule, WAC 173-503, went into effect on April 14, 2001. After this date, any new consumptive withdrawals of groundwater in hydraulic continuity with the Skagit River will cause impairment to instream flows when they are below the minimum instream flows (MIFs) prescribed in the rule. Historically, there have been a number of days every year when the MIFs are not met, as depicted in the following Graph 1 and Table 1.

CP463. Dealing in half-truth, what Mr. Liszak and Ecology fail to explain is that the Skagit River has *never* met Ecology's MIFs, ever, as long as records have been kept. It is undisputed that the Skagit River mainstem has never met the 10,000 cfs minimum instream flow threshold set by the 2001 Rule, as reflected by river gage data kept by the U.S. Geological Survey starting in 1940. CP251. For example, from 1941-1952, USGS records reflect that the Skagit River's monthly mean flow fell below 10,000 cfs in the month of August in seven of those twelve years. *Id*.

More recently, Ecology has been surprisingly open about its scheme to establish arbitrarily high minimum instream flow levels, set well above the historical flows of the river systems they regulate, on the theory that more water for salmon is always ideologically better -- even if

the water in question has never existed – arguing that it "**would** be beneficial for fish **if** those flows were present in the stream."<sup>1</sup>

Both by stated intent and effect, Ecology set out to fabricate an immediate regulatory water shortage in the Skagit River Basin – the West Coast's third largest river, with one of the smallest human populations of any county in the Puget Sound Basin.

In other words, Ecology endorsed a plan for a massive quantity of unused water to go the City of Anacortes and Swinomish Tribe, simultaneously manufacturing a state of scarcity with respect to Skagit County's rural citizens, for the stated purpose of creating a "market system" for the waters of the Skagit.

In 1945, the state legislature codified the right of rural landowners to use enough water to support a single-family homestead (i.e., no more than 5,000 gallons per day), without the requirement to obtain a permit from the State. Before and since, the notion of access to sufficient water to support a single family homestead – an "exempt" well – has been a fundamental property right underpinning the value and useability of rural land. RCW 90.44.050. This is because without a water supply that the County (and banks, insurance companies and the like) will recognize, virtually nothing can be built on one's land per state law and county code,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Washington State Department of Ecology, "Introduction to Instream Flows and Instream Flow Rules," <u>http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wr/instream-flows/isf101.html</u>, last visited August 3, 2015. Stripped of Orwellian doublespeak and placed into plain language, Ecology is saying that there never was enough water in the Skagit River to meet minimum flows, and no human civilization should have ever occurred in the Skagit River Basin.

and, as the pleadings in this matter reflect, Petitioner Fox, like thousands of Skagit Valley landowners, has been acting for decades in reliance on the idea that he would be able to use a *de minimis* quantity of water from the ground beneath his land in order to support his homestead. CP288-291.

Ecology talked about regulating exempt wells in the 2001 Rule, but didn't actually do so. There is no question: early *draft* versions of Ecology's 2001 Rule *contemplated* regulating single family domestic exempt wells in various ways. *See, e.g.*, Second Draft WAC 173-503-090 dated September 9, 1999, which would have provided, if adopted, that exempt single family domestic users "shall hook up to a public water system when connection to such a system is practical..." CP715.

However, no restrictions on exempt wells were included in the final, published 2001 Rule, which was completely silent as to exempt single family domestic wells, making no mention of them whatsoever. CP25-30. Ecology did not discuss that exempt wells would be eliminated at any of the decision documents and public hearings leading to the 2001 Rule.

Offering after-the-fact justification, Ecology makes the ludicrous contention that it was always the case that it intended to cut off exempt wells by adoption of the 2001 Rule. CP525. Although Ecology has been directly challenged on multiple occasions to show something that would prove this contention, the rulemaking record reflects nothing explaining that the 2001 Rule would completely cut off access to exempt wells, or

that it would deal with them at all. While Ecology today says that exempt wells were at the forefront of everyone's mind in 2001, Ecology is fraudulently concealing reality from the Court. For example, here is Ecology's response to a written question from a local well drilling company, submitted just before adoption of the 2001 Rule:

<u>Citizen Question</u>: Does DOE have any solid proof that an exempt well or group of exempt wells has a negative impact on instream flow?

<u>Ecology Response</u>: No information that would relate to this comment has been available for the environmental documents or public hearings. This is not to say that the information does or does not exist.

Responsiveness Summary, Chapter 173-503 WAC, Instream Resources Protection Program, Upper and Lower Skagit Water Resources Inventory Area (WRIA 3 and 4), CP322.

Even putting aside the complete lack of reference to exempt wells in the 2001 Rule, by contemplating and then dropping reference to exempt wells, reasonable minds could further conclude that exempt wells were not contemplated by the 2001 Rule and its rulemaking process.

In reviewing Ecology's pleadings and arguments in this matter, this Court should be careful to review the date of documents that Ecology is proffering as after-the-fact agency justification for the 2001 Rule's alleged elimination of the right to use exempt wells that Ecology now says was always the plan.

Ecology amended the 2001 Rule in 2006, establishing limited water allocations for single family domestic exempt wells in each individual stream watershed within the Skagit River Basin, allocations that would have dramatically limited landowners' access to exempt wells. CP439-40. By intent or negligence, Ecology once again bungled the job, utilizing an emergency rulemaking provision to simply announce tributary basin water allocations, relying on the statutory "Overriding Consideration of Public Interest" ("**OCPI**") mechanism codified at RCW 90.54.020(3)(a). *See*, Amendments to Chapter 173-503 WAC, adopted by Department of Ecology Order No. 05-13, WSR 06-11-070 (May 15, 2006, effective June 15, 2006).

After that, the Swinomish Indian Tribal Community ("Swinomish") brought suit against Ecology, alleging that Ecology's use of the OCPI mechanism was improper. Following a tepid defense by Ecology that more resembled two joint litigants rather than a legitimate adversarial proceeding, the Washington Supreme Court invalidated the 2006 Amendments on narrow, technical grounds, on grounds that Ecology exceeded its authority by using the OCPI allocation mechanism rather than establishing tributary basin minimum flows for each Skagit River

tributary, as Ecology ought to have done in the first place. Holding that all reservations of water by Ecology are subject to the first-in-time, first-in-right prior appropriations doctrine, the Supreme Court ruled that Ecology cannot permissibly create new reservations of water by the OCPI mechanism while simultaneously claiming that the watershed is impaired. *Swinomish v. State*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 576-77 (2013).

Several weeks later, on October 16, 2013, the Attorney General's Office, representing Ecology, directed Skagit County, <u>for the first time</u>, to stop issuing building permits that rely on single family domestic exempt wells. CP273. Prior to this, in the preceding twelve years, Ecology never ordered, directed or told Skagit County to stop issuing building permits on the basis of the 2001 Rule. And far more importantly, Ecology never communicated the idea that exempt wells were precluded, in any way. Rather, Ecology has dropped this bombshell on the people of the Skagit Valley, and now acts as if it is entitled to hide behind Skagit County to do the dirty work involved in arbitrarily depriving thousands of property owners of their rights.

Ecology's 2013 interpretation of its 2001 Rule ensnared Petitioner Fox, who, along with thousands of other unwitting Skagit County landowners, now owns land, in many cases burdened by debt, that cannot be practically used on a reasonable economic basis, for regulatory lack of access to water. CP288-291.

Petitioner Fox filed an application for a building permit on his property in the Mannser/Red Cabin Creek tributary subbasin, which Skagit County temporarily declined to act upon, in accordance with Ecology's directive. *Id.* Ecology once again weighed in, stating that Skagit County should not issue Fox's building permit, suddenly displaying a level of interest in its 2001 Rule. CR237-245. Caught between a directive from an overbearing state agency and the threat of damages litigation by thousands of aggrieved landowners, Skagit County opted to take no action.

Petitioner Fox then brought this suit against Skagit County, seeking to compel the County to issue Fox's building permit. Ecology intervened to oppose Fox, with Swinomish acting in lockstep. CP273.

In an effort to deny Petitioner Fox his day in court, Ecology argues that some other action and some other venue is an appropriate place for Petitioner Fox to challenge Ecology's 2001 Rule, but this is not a challenge to the 2001 Rule. The 2001 Rule is unambiguously <u>silent</u> on the topic of exempt wells. This action involves a challenge to Ecology's interpretation of its 2001 Rule and related arbitrary conduct, as applied to Petitioner Fox – not to mention the other landowners and lawsuits that will inevitably follow.

#### IV. LEGAL ANALYSIS

"[W]here the acts of public officers are arbitrary, tyrannical, or predicated upon a fundamentally wrong basis, then the courts may interfere to protect the rights of individuals." *Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 133 Wn.2d 894, 913-14 (1997).

This case presents a matter of first impression: can Ecology eliminate the right to use exempt wells by silence in an administrative instream flow rule?

# A. The Right To An Exempt Well, And Its Connection To Skagit County.

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